# SHARED RESPONSIBILITY, INDIVIDUAL INTEGRITY: SCIENTISTS ADDRESSING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST IN BIOMEDICAL RESEARCH

July 14, 2006



FASEB

The Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB)

## SHARED RESPONSIBILITY, INDIVIDUAL INTEGRITY: SCIENTISTS ADDRESSING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST IN BIOMEDICAL RESEARCH

March 13, 2006

The Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB)

## ABOUT THE FEDERATION OF AMERICAN SOCIETIES FOR EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY

Founded in 1912, the Federation of the American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB) advances biological science through collaborative advocacy for research policies that promote scientific progress and education and lead to improvements in human health. FASEB is a federation of twenty-two not-for-profit scientific societies representing more than 80,000 research scientists, making it the largest coalition of research associations in the United States.

#### Member Societies:

The American Physiological Society (APS)

American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (ASBMB)

American Society for Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics (ASPET)

American Society for Investigative Pathology (ASIP)

American Society for Nutritional (ASN)

The American Association of Immunologists (AAI)

American Association of Anatomists (AAA)

The Protein Society (PS)

The American Society for Bone and Mineral Research (ASBMR)

American Society for Clinical Investigation (ASCI)

The Endocrine Society (ENDO)

The American Society of Human Genetics (ASHG)

Society for Developmental Biology (SDB)

American Peptide Society (APepS)

Association of Biomolecular Research Facilities (ABRF)

Society for the Study of Reproduction (SSR)

Teratology Society (TS)

Radiation Research Society (RRS)

Society for Gynecologic Investigation (SGI)

Environmental Mutagen Society (EMS)

International Society for Computational Biology (ISCB)

American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM)

#### REPORT STEERING COMMITTEE

LEO FURCHT, M.D., *Committee Chair*, Allen-Pardee Professor and Head, Department of Lab Medicine and Pathology, University of Minnesota Medical School and FASEB President-Elect

BRUCE BISTRIAN, M.D., Ph.D., Professor of Medicine, Nutrition Support Services, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center and FASEB President

CAROL BLUM, Ph.D., Director, Research Compliance and Administration, Council on Government Relations

DAVID B. BYLUND, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Pharmacology, University of Nebraska Medical Center and FASEB Board Member (ASPET)

ERIC G. CAMPBELL, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Institute for Health Policy, Harvard Medical School and Massachusetts General Hospital

MARLENE COHEN, Ph.D., Vice-President, Creative Pharmacology Solutions LLC; Retired Distinguished Research Fellow, Eli Lilly and Company; Adjunct Professor of Pharmacology, Indiana University School of Medicine; and Former FASEB Board Member (ASPET)

GARRY CUTTING, M.D., Professor, Institute of Genetic Medicine, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine and FASEB Board Member (ASHG)

FRED FINKELMAN, M.D., Director, Division of Immunology, University of Cincinnati Medial Center and FASEB Board Member (AAI)

ROBERT GUSSIN, Ph.D., Retired Corporate Vice-President of Science and Technology and Chief Scientific Officer, Johnson and Johnson

ANN HAMMERSLA, J.D., Senior Intellectual Property Council, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

JOSEPHINE JOHNSTON, MBHL, Associate for Ethics, Law, and Society and Director of Education, The Hastings Center

PAUL KINCADE, Ph.D., Member and Head, Immunobiology Program, Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation and FASEB Past-President

ROBERT PALAZZO, Ph.D., Director, Center for Biotechnology and Interdisciplinary Studies, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute; Research Scientist, Wadsworth Center-New York State Department of Health; and FASEB Board Member (ASBMB) JAMES SEVERSON, Ph.D., Vice-Provost of Intellectual Property and Technology Transfer, University of Washington

LOUIS SHERWOOD, M.D., MACP, President, MEDSA LLC; Retired Senior Vice-President, Medical and Scientific Affairs, Merck and Company; President, Academy of Pharmaceutical Physicians and Investigators; and Adjunct Professor of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania

JOHN SMITH, M.D., Ph.D., Professor, Department of Pathology, University of Alabama at Birmingham and FASEB Vice-President-Elect

PAULA STERN, Ph.D., Professor and Vice-Chair, Department of Molecular Pharmacology and Biological Chemistry, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine and FASEB Board Member (ASBMR)

FASEB Project Staff:

LAURA BROCKWAY, Ph.D., Senior Science Policy Analyst, FASEB Office of Public Affairs

HOWARD GARRISON, Ph.D., Director, FASEB Office of Public Affairs

FREDERICK RICKLES, M.D., FACP, FASEB Executive Director

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The committee greatly appreciates the participation of Richard Hodes, M.D., Director of the National Institute on Aging at the National Institutes of Health and Thomas Murray, Ph.D., President of The Hastings Center, in helping to develop the June 14-15, 2005 conference, "Shared responsibility, individual integrity: Scientists addressing conflicts of interest in biomedical research," in Washington, D.C.

In addition, the committee is grateful to the conference participants and speakers for providing perspectives that were important to ongoing discussions. Speakers were:

- ♦ William Brody, M.D., Ph.D., President, Johns Hopkins University
- ♦ Eric G. Campbell, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Institute for Health Policy, Harvard Medical School and Massachusetts General Hospital
- ♦ Gail Cassell, Ph.D., VP of Infectious Diseases, Eli Lilly and Company
- ♦ Susan Ehringhaus, J.D., Associate General Counsel for Regulatory Affairs, Association of American Medical Colleges
- ♦ Philip Pizzo, M.D., Dean for School of Medicine, Stanford University
- ♦ Fred Sanfilippo, M.D., Ph.D., Senior VP for Health Sciences, Dean of the College of Medicine and Public Health, and Medical Center CEO at The Ohio State University
- Louis Sherwood, M.D., MACP, President, MEDSA LLC, Senior VP (retired), Medical and Scientific Affairs, Merck & Co and President, Academy of Pharmaceutical Physicians and Investigators
- ♦ Alastair Wood, M.D., Associate Dean, Vanderbilt University Medical School
- ♦ Elias Zerhouni, M.D., Director, National Institutes of Health

Finally, the committee thanks the FASEB staff for this project. Laura Brockway, Ph.D., Senior Science Policy Analyst, Office of Public Affairs, was principal staff liaison to the committee and prepared the initial draft of this report. Howard Garrison, Ph.D., Director of the Office of Public Affairs, and Frederick Rickles, M.D., FACP, FASEB Executive Director, contributed to the development of the conference and report. Mary Ann Gunselman, Executive Assistant, provided support for the conference and other activities associated with this report. Margie Patlak provided editorial contributions.

#### **PREFACE**

There are many benefits to joint and synergistic relationships involving academia and industry. However, research shows that these interactions have been accompanied by serious and sometimes unaddressed conflicts or potential conflicts of interest. Responses from the media and Congress in this regard have been rapid and notable, sparking discussions about expansion of regulatory requirements and other potential burdens to investigators.

As representatives and leaders within the biomedical research community, the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB) believes that maintaining the public trust and assuring the integrity of basic and clinical research is of the highest importance. Given our representation of over 84,000 practicing scientists, FASEB is uniquely positioned to proactively address these issues. While other groups have addressed conflict of interest, we are particularly concerned with the perspectives of investigators who work in the public interest in all research-based institutions, particularly academic and not-for-profit institutions where the majority of FASEB society member scientists are represented.

In July 2004, FASEB announced the intent to address conflict of interest in biomedical research, and the FASEB Board of Directors approved this initiative in December. Shortly thereafter, a steering committee was formed that developed the conference agenda and the issues to be discussed, secured speakers, and outline plans for future work from FASEB.

In June 2005, FASEB hosted the conference, "Shared responsibility, individual integrity: Scientists addressing conflicts of interest in biomedical research." The purpose of the conference was to allow investigators to consider and respond to serious challenges involving conflict of interest in biomedical research. The conference was held as part of the FASEB Board of Directors Meeting on June 14-15, 2005 in Washington, D.C. Speakers from academia, industry, government, and nonprofit associations outlined the issues. In a break-out session, groups of FASEB Board Members, society staff, speakers, and invited guests discussed issues related to four types of academia-industry relationships: research contracts, consulting and board membership, entrepreneurial activities, and training or education. The conference prepared FASEB for a continuing discussion of these issues, and a steering committee continued to develop several key issues that were raised. The FASEB Board of Directors reviewed the report in December 2005, and approved it on December 9, 2005.

This report represents a consensus statement on overarching principles and voluntary standards for the conduct and management of academia-industry interactions from the *scientists' perspective*. It is intended to be used primarily by scientists, as well as institutional leaders, policymakers, professional societies, and others. The guiding framework for this report is based on the assumption that in academia-industry relationships, there are 1) individual decisions that are made by scientists, 2) institutional, professional, and government requirements, and 3) goals and objectives that are specific to each sector. This report focuses on identifying those challenges that scientists confront in academia-industry relationships, and recommends guiding principles for these scientists that will help them appropriately secure the benefits and guard against risks of such collaborations. Although the document is generally

designed to address financial conflict of interest issues faced by individual academic scientists, some of the general principles apply to scientists broadly and address challenges that are not exclusively financial in nature. These recommended guiding principles should be used to complement, not substitute, any requirements from the government, institutions, and journals.

The vast majority of biomedical researchers are guided by the highest ethical and professional standards. Our member societies and their scientists continue to uphold practices that advance the public good. Through the leadership of the FASEB Board, FASEB member societies, their scientists, and the broader scientific and policy communities, we aim to provide scientists with better tools for navigating relationships between academia and industry in the public interest.

Leo T. Furcht, M.D.
Steering Committee Chair
FASEB President-Elect and Past Vice-President for Science Policy

### **CONTENTS**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
INTRODUCTION	4
Scope of academia-industry relationships in science	4
Benefits of academia-industry relationships	5
Challenges of academia-industry relationships and conflicts of interest	5
Conflict of interest regulation	6
Ongoing challenges for academic investigators	7
CHALLENGES AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES	9
How do investigators protect against research bias in industry relationships?	9
How do investigators work with institutions to ensure requirements are fulfilled and relationships are fairly and effectively reviewed and overseen?	9
How do investigators address issues of access, analysis, and dissemination of research information, data, and materials in industry relationships?	13
How do investigators operate with transparency and accountability in industry consulting relationships?	15
How do investigators address issues in entrepreneurial activities?	16
How do investigators with industry relationships minimize negative impacts on training and education?	18
How do investigators with industry relationships protect against risks to human research participants?	20
CONCLUSION	22
REFERENCES	24
APPENDIX	27

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Relationships between academia and industry are a fundamental part of the modern life science enterprise. It is only through such interactions that advancements in the life sciences can most rapidly achieve the maximum benefit to society. The rise in academia-industry relationships has been accompanied by increasing concerns about risks due to financial conflicts of interest. These risks include the potential to bias research, delay trainee progress, compromise efficient and wide dissemination of research results, harm human research participants, and decrease public trust in medical research.

There are several rules and policies of the federal government, institutions, professional societies, and scientific journals that guide the oversight of academia-industry relationships. To date, many of the policy recommendations addressing financial conflicts of interest have focused on the role of institutions in the review and oversight of investigators' relationships with industry, whereas the role of investigators has not been as well-identified. The actions of investigators as a group will determine the effectiveness of policies and practices. But in the current debate over the limits of intimacy between industry and academia, there is a clear need for voluntary standards for the conduct of academia-industry interactions from the scientists' perspective. With this goal in mind, we propose a set of guiding principles that can help investigators anticipate common challenges in industry relationships and guide their decision-making to overcome these challenges. While the document was generally designed to address financial conflicts of interest faced by individual academic scientists, some of the general principles apply to scientists broadly and address challenges that are not exclusively financial in nature.

Specific challenges for investigators discussed in this report include:

- ♦ How do investigators protect against research bias in industry relationships?
- ♦ How do investigators work with institutions to ensure requirements are fulfilled and relationships are fairly and effectively reviewed and overseen?
- How do investigators address issues of access, analysis, and dissemination of research information, data, and materials in industry relationships?
- ♦ How do investigators operate with transparency and accountability in industry consulting relationships (consulting, advisory board membership, speaker bureaus)?
- ♦ How do investigators address conflict of interest issues in their entrepreneurial activities (involvement in start-up companies and technology licensing)?
- How do investigators with industry relationships minimize the negative impacts of those relationships on training and education?
- ♦ How do investigators with industry relationships protect against risks to human research participants?

The guiding principles to aid investigators in addressing these challenges are:

- Guiding principle 1: Investigators have a responsibility and commitment to conduct scientific activities objectively and with the highest professional standards.
- Guiding principle 2: The primary responsibility of full-time investigators is to the institution. Outside activities shall complement, not compromise, institutional responsibilities.
- Guiding principle 3: It is appropriate and beneficial for academic institutions to develop and enforce their own mechanisms of review and oversight of investigator relationships with industry.
- Guiding principle 4: The academic community can and shall monitor itself through peer review of industry relationships. Institutional committees that include peer members from the same institution are appropriate and effective in reviewing disclosures of investigators' industry relationships.
- Guiding principle 5: Investigators want and need clear guidance, efficient processes, and adequate support mechanisms from their institution throughout their participation in industry relationships.
- ♦ Guiding principle 6: Investigators shall have access to, and be involved in the analysis and/or interpretation of all data generated in the research.
- Guiding principle 7: Mutual understanding of constraints, principles, and policies regarding access, analysis, and dissemination of research information, data, and materials among investigators and their students and trainees, institutions, and sponsors is beneficial.
- Guiding principle 8: Investigators shall not enter into agreements with companies that prevent publication of research results. Pre-publication review by an industry sponsor shall occur in a timely manner (no more than thirty to sixty days) so as not to unnecessarily delay study publication.
- Guiding principle 9: Investigators shall be aware of and adhere to individual journal policies on disclosure of industry relationships.
- Guiding principle 10: Consulting and advisory board relationships shall be carried out in a transparent and accountable manner and be disclosed as they are initiated.
- Guiding Principle 11: When investigators have consulting relationships with an investment firm related to their area of expertise, all parties shall be aware of the specific circumstances involved.

- ♦ Guiding principle 12: Investigators shall not use federal funds to the benefit of a company, unless this is the explicit purpose of the mechanism used to fund the research (e.g., Small Business Innovation Research and similar grants).
- Guiding principle 13: When investigators own significant equity in a company with which research is conducted, all parties shall be aware of the special circumstances involved.
- ♦ Guiding principle 14: When holding a significant role in a start-up company, investigators shall be guided by agreed-upon limits to the scope of the relationship.
- Guiding principle 15: Investigators shall be aware of and adhere to requirements of federal funding related to disclosure of inventions. Investigators shall adhere to patent law and institutional requirements.
- ♦ Guiding principle 16: Investigators shall not seek to influence their institution's technology transfer decisions for personal gain.
- Guiding principle 17: A mentor's outside commercial interests shall avoid impeding a trainee's timely progress toward his/her degree, restricting a trainee's right to publish his/her dissertation research in a timely manner, compromising a trainee's career progress, or restricting a trainee's freedom of inquiry.
- Guiding principle 18: Mentors and institutions should make trainees aware of their rights and responsibilities in industry relationships.
- Guiding principle 19: Investigators shall regard all significant financial interests in research involving human subjects as potentially problematic and thus requiring close scrutiny.

Both individuals and institutions must work together to address the conflict of interest challenges academia-industry relationships can pose. Industry and academic institutions should work together to steer investigators away from key challenges and roadblocks. But individual researchers still must diligently strive to maintain the objectivity and integrity of their investigations.<sup>3</sup> Integrity embodies a commitment to intellectual honesty in proposing, performing, reporting and reviewing research, and fairness in interactions with colleagues and for those an investigator has a responsibility.<sup>4</sup> Investigators must continue to show individual accountability in deciding to enter into relationships with industry, complying with institutional, government and journal policies, and proactively addressing conflict-of-interest challenges using these guiding principles. With careful disclosure and oversight, investigators can minimize or eliminate the risks of industry-academia collaborations and maximize the benefits to the scientific community and public. Failure to do so could have disastrous effects for the future of the scientific enterprise.

#### INTRODUCTION

Frequently academic scientists, administrators, and institutions carry out research for, or provide intellectual property to, industry in return for research support, honoraria, consulting fees, royalties, and equity, and other forms of compensation.<sup>5</sup> But the scope and nature of academia-industry collaborations have recently increased in size and complexity. This creates changes in the research environment that present both opportunities and challenges for scientists and their institutions.

#### SCOPE AND TYPES OF ACADEMIA-INDUSTRY RELATIONSHIPS IN SCIENCE

Relationships between academia and industry are a fundamental part of the modern life science enterprise. It is only through such relationships that the life sciences can advance most rapidly to maximize benefits to society. Collaborations between industry and academia have grown due to many factors including legislation and agency policies that encourage technology transfer and collaborative research, the increasingly complex nature of research that requires relationships across institutions and sectors, and the overall increase in the cost of doing research and development that yields therapies.

The growth of relationships between industry and academia is evident in the rise in the number of university patents<sup>6</sup>, publications with authorship affiliations in academia and industry<sup>7</sup>, and collaborative research agreements.<sup>7</sup>

Many different types of relationships exist between industry and academia, including research contracts, research grants, and consulting or licensing arrangements. Through research contracts and grants, companies provide direct support for research projects at universities. In return, companies often receive the right to license any inventions that are developed from that research. Approximately one-quarter of academic faculty members receive research funding from industry<sup>8</sup>, representing close to \$2 billion in 2004.<sup>7</sup>

Companies also provide direct support of academic trainees. Of 210 life science firms surveyed in 1994, 38 percent supported the education of students and fellows through grants. Academic investigators also transfer their knowledge to industry via consulting and advisory board membership. Approximately 80 percent of life science companies retain academic faculty members as consultants, the most prevalent relationship.

Licensing of technologies developed by academic investigators and the creation of university spin-off companies are also major types of academia-industry relationships. In FY 2004, 191 institutions reported licenses that led to the formation of 462 new companies that year. Since 1980, licenses from academic institutions led to the formation of 4,543 new companies.

It is important to mention that relationships exist at the institutional level as well. While important, these industry relationships are not considered in this report.

#### BENEFITS OF ACADEMIA-INDUSTRY RELATIONSHIPS

Many important societal benefits stem from scientific collaborations between academia and industry, including translating basic scientific findings into clinical applications, and fueling local economies. Collaboration between industry and academia has led to many important therapies and research tools, such as the gene splicing technology that initiated the biotechnology industry, diagnostic tests for breast cancer and osteoporosis, and vaccines. Institutional licensing activities from FY 1998-2003 made 2,230 products commercially available, one report found. Studies also reveal how academia-industry relationships make significant contributions to local economies. Evidence shows academia-industry relationships are a key component of economic competitiveness and increase the future research and development spending by industry.

Academic investigators also benefit by their collaborations with industry through increased access to resources to support their on-going projects. These collaborations enable academic investigators to participate in the application of their research, and it allows students and academic investigators to work on applied research projects. Studies show that industry funding correlates with increased faculty academic productivity (published articles) and commercial productivity (patents and licenses, products under review and on the market, and start-up companies). Academic investigators, government researchers, and industry scientists also benefit professionally by interacting with colleagues. Such interactions facilitate the bidirectional flow of knowledge and materials. Interaction with industry provides academic investigators opportunities to participate in the application of their research, and it allows students and academic investigators to work on applied research projects. Finally, industry support may help offset wage differential between industrial and non-industrial sectors that may assist in recruitment and retention of scientists and administrators to academia.

## CHALLENGES OF ACADEMIA-INDUSTRY RELATIONSHIPS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The rise in academia-industry relationships has been accompanied by increased concerns regarding conflicts of interest that are largely, but not exclusively, financial. A commonly used definition of financial conflict of interest is: a condition in which a primary interest (institutional responsibilities for research and education) is in conflict (whether real or perceived) with a secondary interest (such as financial gain). A conflict of interest is a situation, and not a behavior. The presence of a conflict of interest is not necessarily an indictment of an individual, but rather an acknowledgement of a potentially challenging situation. By focusing on relationships and not conflicts of interest in this report, we hope to direct the guidance towards smart practices and other useful tools for scientists.

The most intense scrutiny of academia-industry relations focuses on risks to human research participants. High profile cases, such as the death of Jesse Gelsinger in a gene therapy trial at the University of Pennsylvania, highlight the need for protection of patients and research participants. The potential risk to human research participants has created a consensus within the medical and scientific community to increase attention to this issue.

Correlations between industry funding and published scientific conclusions that could be viewed as favorable to industry highlight the potential for relationships to introduce bias into research.<sup>14</sup> Do financial relationships with industry cause subtle or unconscious bias on the part of academic researchers?<sup>15</sup> Does industry funding affect the conduct of research or study design?<sup>14</sup> Will industry simply choose to have relationships with researchers that have predetermined favorable positions on their products? Or will they partner with those individuals who have the most expertise about the specific research area? The potential for bias remains an impassioned subject of discussion in the scientific community and the press.

There is also concern that deepening commercial ties can undermine academe's commitment to openness. For example, studies suggest that industry-funded results are less likely to be published or, when published, delayed even longer than the time necessary to file a patent. Academia-industry relationships may impose other restrictions such as denial of access to research data or biomaterials to other investigators. <sup>16, 17</sup>

Industry relationships may impact trainees differently than principal investigators. There are concerns about specific risks, such as fewer publications or delays in publication of manuscripts and dissertations as well as constraints in the type of research that is conducted. From the trainee's perspective, some of these challenges may not be currently considered problematic. However, similar to the protection of human research participants, protection of trainees is a fundamental responsibility of mentors, and this student-teacher relationship must be safeguarded.

For the scientific community, negative public perception and distrust of the biomedical research enterprise is perhaps one of the most worrisome challenges in academia-industry relationships. Recent public opinion research shows support for interactions between academia and industry.<sup>21</sup> On the other hand, lapses in judgment and reports of misconduct damage the public's faith in medical research.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST REGULATION

Rules and policies of the federal government, institutions, professional societies, and scientific journals guide the review and oversight of academia-industry relationships. Federal regulations (42 CFR Part 50, Subpart F) establish the standards for institutions to ensure there is no reasonable expectation that the design, conduct, or reporting of research funded under Public Health Service (PHS) grants or cooperative agreements will be biased by an investigator's conflicting financial interest. PHS guidelines provide *de minimus* standards for disclosure to the research institution while allowing institutions to implement review and oversight mechanisms in ways specific to their needs. The threshold for disclosure is \$10,000 in annual income or equity in a relevant company or 5 percent ownership of such a company. Some institutions use a lower threshold for disclosure. Based on the PHS regulation, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the National Science Foundation require grantee institutions to maintain and enforce policies on conflict of interest and appropriately inform the agency of conflicts of interest. In addition, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations state that investigators who receive

compensation in excess of \$25,000 from a corporate sponsor for a trial in which the investigator is engaged must disclose to the FDA at the time of filing for a new drug application.

Academic institutional policies are designed to protect the integrity of research, the missions of the institutions, stakeholders (including investigators, trainees and research participants), and public confidence.<sup>22</sup> Medical school conflict-of-interest policies vary widely, but policies governing research involving human participants are generally more stringent than for other types of research.<sup>23</sup>

Scientific journals, the major gatekeepers of research results, began adding disclosure requirements in their instructions to authors in the 1980s. The International Committee of Medical Journal Editors Uniform Requirements, adopted by 150 journals, includes guidelines for addressing conflicts of interest. A 1997 survey of 1396 highly ranked scientific and biomedical journals found that 16 percent had published conflict-of-interest policies. Of those, 87 percent were medical journals. Nearly three-fourths of editors of those journals with policies publish author disclosure statements. A more recent survey (albeit with a smaller sample of forty-one biomedical journals) showed 59 percent of journals surveyed contained financial disclosure requirements in their published instructions to authors. In addition, many scientific conferences require disclosures of financial interests in presentations.

#### ONGOING CHALLENGES FOR ACADEMIC INVESTIGATORS

Of course, one way to eliminate unintended negative consequences of academia-industry relationships is to eliminate the relationships themselves. But ending all academia-industry relationships is not a viable alternative. Such drastic measures are neither feasible nor beneficial to society. In fact, calls for *increased* collaborations between academia and industry are being heard.<sup>26</sup> By virtue of its increased participation in academia-industry relationships, the scientific community has indicated that the benefits outweigh the risks. The many medical advances academia-industry relationships have brought to society cannot be overstated. However, increased concerns about the integrity of medical research are evident. Although concerns about *potential* risks may not be well-aligned with *real* misbehavior, these issues must continue to be addressed by the scientific community to assure the credibility of medical research. The challenge for the scientific community is to disclose and manage these relationships.

The vast majority of biomedical researchers are guided by the highest ethical and professional standards. The focus of the report is to discuss and provide guidance to academic investigators to address challenges that may occur due to financial relationships between academia and industry, not to judge whether a real or perceived conflict of interest exists. Although the document is generally designed to address financial conflict of interest issues faced by individual academic scientists, some of the general principles apply to scientists broadly and address challenges that are not exclusively financial in nature.

Specific challenges for investigators discussed in this report include:

- ♦ How do investigators protect against research bias in industry relationships?
- How do investigators work with institutions to ensure requirements are fulfilled and relationships are fairly and effectively reviewed and overseen?
- ♦ How do investigators address issues of access, analysis, and dissemination of research information, data, and materials in industry relationships?
- How do investigators operate with transparency and accountability in industry consulting relationships (consulting, advisory board membership, speaker bureaus)?
- ♦ How do investigators address issues in entrepreneurial activities (start-up companies and technology licensing)?
- ♦ How do investigators with industry relationships minimize negative impacts on training and education?
- ♦ How do investigators with industry relationships protect against risks to human research participants?

#### CHALLENGES AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES

### HOW DO INVESTIGATORS PROTECT AGAINST RESEARCH BIAS IN INDUSTRY RELATIONSHIPS?

Public support for research is built on a foundation of trust that reported research results are credible. Therefore, the potential for academia-industry relationships to bias research and investigators is a concern shared by the scientific community and the public. A challenge for investigators is how to address the perceived or real loss of objectivity when forging a relationship with industry.

Researchers diligently strive to maintain the objectivity and integrity of their investigations<sup>3</sup> by their:

- Intellectual honesty in proposing, performing, and reporting research;
- Accuracy in representing contributions to research proposals and reports;
- Fairness in peer review and collegiality of scientific interactions (including communications and sharing of resources);
- Transparency in industry relationships;
- Protection of human subjects and humane care of animals in research; and
- Adherence to mutual responsibilities between investigators and their research teams.<sup>4</sup>

Unfortunately, the perception of bias that results from having a financial interest can be damaging to the credibility of biomedical research. People understand money and its potential for influence. This potential for influence may cause public anxiety about financial interests in biomedical research. But the public may not understand the inherent checks and balances of scientific research designed to weed out research bias. Peer review and institutional review boards prevent investigators from obtaining or publishing any information that is not accurate or appropriately obtained. While recognizing the peer review system has limitations, ongoing review and revision is critical in minimizing individual subjectivity.

Guiding principle 1: Investigators have a responsibility and commitment to conduct scientific activities objectively and with the highest professional standards. These commitments and review processes must encompass all aspects of the research process (including research design, data collection, analyses, and communication of research results to the scientific community and the public) and professional responsibilities. This is a first and important step in addressing any challenges that may occur in financial relationships between academic investigators and industry.

## HOW DO INVESTIGATORS WORK WITH INSTITUTIONS TO ENSURE REQUIREMENTS ARE FULFILLED AND RELATIONSHIPS ARE FAIRLY AND EFFECTIVELY REVIEWED AND OVERSEEN?

Federal law gives academic institutions the authority to develop and enforce policies governing relationships with industry. Concerns have been raised about the varying scope of

academic policies, why some policies are more stringent than others, and what the effects of this variation may have. The alternative is a uniform policy for all academic institutions mandated by the government or developed voluntarily by the institutional community. We do not intend to make recommendations on institutional policies. Rather, our focus is on describing the response of investigators to current institutional policies. This report considers whether or not it would make a difference in the lives of investigators if standard institutional policies, or some aspects of them, were implemented.

Most institutions use peer review to monitor industry relationships. These can take the form of institutional conflict of interest committees, for example. Challenges in using peer review committees include a "culture of collegiality," such that colleagues are not inclined to "police" their peers from their institution or outside their institution; a "culture of envy," such that peers are too strict when reviewing conflict-of-interest disclosures; and institutional conflict-of-interest issues. Investigators need to be aware of these dangers and guide their actions accordingly.

Guiding principle 2: The primary responsibility of full-time investigators is to the institutions. Outside activities shall complement, not compromise, institutional responsibilities. Technology transfer is one of the missions of academic institutions that serve the public interest. Investigators play an integral role in fulfilling this mission through their collaborations with industry. The challenge for institutions is promoting awareness and understanding of established requirements regarding such collaborations. To fulfill the perceived need of increased awareness of institutional requirements and potential challenges, a list of common institutional requirements appears in the Appendix. In addition, investigators must:

- ♦ Be aware of, and adhere to, their institutional policies on investigator conflict of interest and academia-industry relationships.
- ♦ Call for improvements within their institutions when the institutional conflict-ofinterest policies are not clear or not sufficiently well disseminated.
- ♦ Consider specific aspects of institutional requirements *before* entering into and *throughout* their relationships with industry.

Guiding principle 3: It is appropriate and beneficial for academic institutions to develop and enforce their own mechanisms of review and oversight of investigator relationships with industry. In general, the non-uniformity of institutional policies of review and oversight does not appear to be a major challenge for many investigators; however, it is a problem for many institutional leaders. A major benefit of the discretion given to institutions by federal regulation allows institutions to be flexible to specific circumstances. Case-by-case review and oversight, guided by *rigorous* adherence to standards and rules, is the desired method of managing relationships. At the same time, some level of harmonization of institutional policies would be beneficial. In every case, private agreements must conform to institutional policies and guidance. More specifically, the academic research community should:

- Work towards common standards, while preserving case-by-case analysis and situational-driven decision making. Institutions should study the effectiveness of their policies and improve them based on input from investigators. This will help protect the investigator, the institution, the industry partner, and the public.
- ♦ Strive to develop uniform policies of disclosure of academic-industry relationships. Investigators would benefit from more uniform *disclosure* requirements.<sup>29</sup> The benefits of variable disclosure requirements are not clear and such non-uniformity may result in confusion and non-compliance by investigators. Although a specific model of institutional review and oversight is not endorsed, it would be beneficial to investigators if institutions used similar disclosure policies. These policies should be consistent in describing when disclosure occurs (annually, upon initiation of a relationship, or upon application for funding), and to whom (institutional committee, Dean, department Chair). Specifically, it is recommended that institutions ask all research investigators to *annually* disclose whether or not they have relationships with industry and to update this information upon starting or ending such relationships.

Guiding principle 4: The academic community can and shall monitor itself through peer review of industry relationships. Institutional committees that include peer members from the same institution are appropriate and effective in reviewing investigators' industry relationships. Peer review provides fair and effective review of industry relationships. Despite its challenges, peer review is the established, fundamental, and trusted adjudication mechanism of the scientific community. If the institution has rigorous standards and thorough training programs, this method of review and oversight should be effective and is in the interest of investigators and the public.

- ♦ If committees are not used for disclosure review, more than one individual should review relationship disclosures. This should occur regardless of whether the relationship was approved by the first person who reviewed it. For example, some institutions or departments review relationship disclosures "up the ladder" (first by a department chair then by a dean, or simultaneously).
- ♦ Committee composition, including the use of public representatives, is an important consideration. Several groups have endorsed having public members of the community in conflict-of-interest committees. There are concerns, however, about confidentiality and proprietary information that may occur if committee members are not bound by confidentiality agreements. Institutions should carefully choose their public representatives and may have public representatives sign confidentiality agreements. Community members should be knowledgeable about ethical issues. They could include, for example, retired judges or lawyers not associated with the institution).

♦ Training for conflict of interest committees is crucial, especially the training of committee members not affiliated with the institution. Regular training and review of members should occur.

Guiding principle 5: Investigators want and need clear guidance, efficient processes, and adequate support mechanisms from their institutions during the disclosure and review process, and throughout their participation in industry relationships. Disclosure of relationships is the first step, but what is done once disclosure has taken place is critical part. Investigators need efficient, streamlined review of relationship disclosures. Investigators should be able to seek guidance from their institutions in this regard. The need for clarity is also true for policies from funding sources, professional associations, and journals. More specifically, institutions should:

- ♦ Act quickly in reviewing a new industry relationship for approval.
- Have a process for investigators to appeal decisions made by individuals or committees reviewing disclosures. The appeals process is an important safeguard for investigators.
- Consider using electronic databases for internal management of disclosure submission and review. Using electronic records would ease the burden on investigators, facilitate and expedite the administrative process, and provide better methods of communication and review between the necessary parties, including institutional review boards, technology transfer offices, and research offices. Electronic disclosure and review records should be "living" documents, not simply forms that are stored and not regularly updated. Extreme caution should be taken that personal and proprietary information is kept confidential.
- Make investigators aware of potential challenges that might be encountered during the relationship review process, and provide sources of information helpful in addressing these potential situations. Such institutional guidance and expertise would be particularly helpful to investigators if it was in the form of Frequently Asked Questions, case studies, or provides other tools and examples that highlight common challenges and provide guidance in resolving them.
- Clarify to investigators the consequences of non-compliance with their conflict-ofinterest policies.
- ♦ Have statements that specify the basis for their approving or rejecting investigators relationships with industry.

## HOW DO INVESTIGATORS ADDRESS ISSUES OF ACCESS, ANALYSIS, AND DISSEMINATION OF RESEARCH INFORMATION, DATA, AND MATERIALS IN INDUSTRY RELATIONSHIPS?

It is crucial that academic investigators be able to access, analyze, and disseminate research information, data and materials. Research success, promotion, and tenure depend heavily on information generation (through research that relies on access to data and materials) and dissemination (through publications, presentations, mentoring and teaching). Sometimes these academic principles conflict with industry's need to protect proprietary information and materials. When considering a relationship with industry, what principles and practices might help investigators address access, analysis, and dissemination of research information, data and materials?

Guiding principle 6: Investigators shall have access to, and be involved in the analysis and/or interpretation of all data generated in the research. All academic investigators participating in research (industry-funded or not) have a professional obligation to the integrity of the study.

- ♦ Logistical challenges in following this general principle may occur, especially in the case of multi-institution studies. A research committee or a principal investigator (PI) should be designated for the purpose of coordinating data access and analysis. This often works best when the PI and other key academics in a study with industry actually come to the company, work with the statisticians and others to access the database, ask questions, and challenge conclusions before finalizing the study results.
- ♦ Even in cases where a PI or research committee is used for data access and analyses, each participating investigator must be assured of the study's integrity in other ways. One way is to insist that research methods, including data selection and statistical analyses, are discussed and agreed upon by participating investigators *prior* to data collection.<sup>30</sup> This is standard operating procedure to help prevent bias from entering into data analyses.

Guiding principle 7: Mutual understanding of constraints, principles, and policies regarding access, analysis, and dissemination of research information, data, and materials among investigators and their students and trainees, institutions, and sponsors is beneficial. Mutual understanding of each parties' goals and constraints before and during the relationship will go far to ensure the success of the relationship.

Once a study is published, academic investigators expect that effort will be made to provide data and materials to other investigators. This is often a condition of journal publication. Access to data and materials for use by other investigators in the field helps to validate research results, an important aspect of the peer review system. Every effort should be made to appropriately share data and materials for replication purposes.

- Some restrictions on access to information, data and materials in industry collaborations may have a legitimate rationale on the part of the sponsoring company. The industry sponsor does own the data and has regulatory responsibilities to FDA and others. For example, Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice is an international ethical and scientific quality standard for designing, conducting, recording, and reporting trials that involve human subjects. Compliance with this standard requires that the study sponsor take responsibility for data recording, reporting, quality assurance, analysis, and regulatory review for retaining these data. Companies must always adhere to these standards, especially when relationships with academia are to proceed in good-faith and be in the public interest.
- Academic investigators should always know and adhere to agreed upon design elements, including patient inclusion criteria for enrollment, in clinical studies. By not adhering to these criteria in a desire to enroll patients, the tested variable may be inappropriately used and the study flawed.
- Academic investigators should understand and be aware of specific contract terms, and enter into agreements only if they accept these terms. A list of useful questions is found in the Appendix. Investigators should honor the terms of industry agreements.

Guiding principle 8: Investigators shall not enter into agreements with companies that prevent publication of research results. Pre-publication review by an industry sponsor to secure intellectual property rights shall occur in a timely manner (no more than thirty to sixty days) so as not to unnecessarily delay study publication. This is in accordance with NIH guidelines for pre-publication review in sponsored agreements involving extramural grantees. There may be unique situations (e.g., multi-institution studies) when publication preparation and review may need more time. The terms of this additional time should be negotiated before the start of the study whenever possible. Investigators should accept some flexibility because not all problems can be anticipated before a study starts.

Guiding principle 9: Investigators shall be aware of and adhere to individual journal policies on disclosure of industry relationships. Journal policies vary with respect to author disclosure of industry relationships. Biomedical journals also vary widely in scope and audience and the types of research reported (clinical and basic research). Awareness on the part of authors and rigorous journal standards can be used as principles to protect against risk. Some consistency in journal policies would be beneficial because the variation in disclosure requirements may result in confusion and non-compliance by investigators.

- Journals with disclosure requirements should avoid requiring investigators to judge
   whether there may or may not be a relationship that could create bias and to simply
   require disclosure of relevant industry relationships.
- An author is generally considered to be someone who has made substantive intellectual contributions to a published study.<sup>32</sup> Investigators should be aware of their responsibilities regarding authorship and should not accept guest authorship of

"ghost written" manuscripts describing results of industry-funded studies. All authors must be prepared to accept accountability if the content of the article is questioned.<sup>33</sup>

## HOW DO INVESTIGATORS OPERATE WITH TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY IN INDUSTRY CONSULTING RELATIONSHIPS?

There are numerous benefits of consulting for investigators. These include:

- Financial gain (direct payments or access to grants);
- Iintellectual and personal growth through interaction with new colleagues;
- Insight into corporate life and product development;
- Access to information that can be used in one's own research:
- The honor and distinction in having been selected as a consultant; and
- The satisfaction of participating in the application of one's research.

Consulting relationships with the inventor of a licensed technology are often key to facilitating the development of the technology into a safe and marketable product. Industry employs academic consultants for their knowledge, insight, expertise, credibility, and prestige. They also benefit by having consultants facilitate drug development, disarm critics, and recruit employees.

But there are many challenges for investigators in their relationships with industry. There can be disputes of ownership of intellectual property generated in the consulting activity and the rights of future use of this property. It can be difficult to balance institutional duties with outside activities, especially if there are risks of legal liability, secrecy issues that could impinge on other duties, conflicts of interests in multiple consultancies, and rules that prevent participation in some research (such as clinical trials with a company while consulting). Private arrangements have the potential to interfere with what the institution and investigator can do in the future. These issues will only be exacerbated with the increase in interdisciplinary and multi-institution research. Investigators should be aware of these challenges before and during a consulting relationship and address any concerns with their institution. Investigators should pay careful attention to the consulting agreement they (or their institution) sign so as to insure compliance with the terms of the agreement.

Investigators look to their institutions for guidance in many issues related to academia-industry relationships. This is particularly true in consulting arrangements in which no standards are evident. It is the experience of some investigators that the lack of clear standards in consulting agreements is confusing and discourages some researchers from participating in these activities.

Guiding principle 10: Consulting and advisory board relationships shall be carried out in a transparent and accountable manner and be disclosed as they are initiated. Investigators are primarily accountable to their institutions, but they also must uphold any industry contracts they have. It is important that these responsibilities are delineated.

- ♦ Transparency entails disclosure of relationships as required by institutions and journals, but also voluntary disclosure. Investigators should disclose all relevant industry relationships (including consulting) in publications and presentations.
- ♦ Investigators should keep their non-industry funded research and consulting activities as separate as possible and in accordance with each contract.<sup>34</sup> Companies choose experts in a particular field. Thus, keeping institutional duties and consulting activities separate is challenging for investigators. It is important that investigators demarcate institutional duties and any activities covered in a consulting contract.

Guiding Principle 11: When investigators have consulting relationships with investment firms related to their area of expertise, all parties shall be aware of the specific circumstances involved. Relationships between investigators and the investment industry are becoming more frequent. Almost one of ten U.S. physicians has such a relationship and it is likely that some of these physicians are involved in research. Although many of the same benefits and risks exist for these relationships as with traditional consulting, there are unique characteristics worthy of attention. For example, there are many potential legal entanglements involving securities law and confidentiality agreements. 35

- Investigators should be especially careful when a consulting relationship with the investment firm might overlap with relationships the investigator has with other companies (such as those potentially affected by the investment firm or those with which research is conducted).
- Investigators should not engage in premature communication of unpublished or non-publicly discussed information regarding ongoing research studies, particularly clinical trials, to individuals or organizations in the investment industry other than to a company sponsoring those studies.

## HOW DO INVESTIGATORS ADDRESS ISSUES IN ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES?

Academic institutions are more frequently licensing inventions to companies. The growth of licensing activities has given rise to questions about whether and under what circumstances institutions should license technology to a company in which investigators or other members of the institution have financial interest. There are many benefits in investigator participation in entrepreneurial activities (start-up companies and technology licensing). Challenges for investigators include the potential to bias research to encourage company growth, the potential harm to individual and institutional reputations, and conflict of commitment with other institutional responsibilities. Often, a condition of consulting contracts is that discoveries are owned by the sponsor if relevant to the consulting area. Conflicts between industry sponsors and institutions can occur when intellectual property issues arise. For the individual scientist, the challenge is how to participate in these activities in a transparent and accountable manner and address any challenges that may arise with their institutions (ideally, before they develop into serious disagreements).

Guiding principle 12: Investigators shall not use federal funds to the benefit of a company, unless this is the explicit purpose of the mechanism used to fund the research. These mechanisms include projects funded by Small Business Innovation Research or Small Business Technology Transfer grants. The goal of technology transfer is to translate basic research findings into useful products, and start-up companies based on an institutional license are often an important mechanism for accomplishing this goal. The inventor of a technology often has the most expertise that helps to translate that technology into a useful product. Investigators with dual roles (research faculty and company founder/consultant) face challenges of potential overlap of research interests, thereby blurring the line between institutional responsibilities and outside interests.

Guiding principle 13: When investigators own significant equity in a company with which research is conducted, all parties shall be aware of the special circumstances involved. Equity is an important mechanism of compensation, particularly for small start-up companies, and can be an effective incentive for academic investigators. There are several types of situations in which equity is used as compensation. For example, an investigator may have both a research relationship and a managerial role in a start-up company based on an institutional license. In this case, the institution is involved as owner of the licensed technology, and the terms of the relationship can be negotiated between the institution and investigator. It is important that investigators understand that equity poses unique challenges and risks because it has a larger *potential* for financial gain than other forms of compensation, such as consulting fees or research grants. As a result, the potential for conflicts of interest is substantial. Equity relationships need diligent monitoring because the value of the compensation varies according to the perceived success of the company. Investigators holding supervisory roles in the university should pay special attention to risks.

Guiding principle 14: When holding a significant role in a start-up company, investigators shall be guided by agreed-upon limits to the scope of the relationship. Significant roles include serving as a member of a board of directors, chief scientist, or any executive level position. Close interaction between the inventor of the technology and the licensing company is often beneficial. As company founders, investigators may need to participate broadly in the company's development. Investigators should always submit the proposed activity to the institution and follow institutional requirements.

- ♦ It is appropriate (and often necessary) for an investigator to serve *initially* in a managerial role. Activities may include consulting, review of strategic plans, and discussing the company's progress. A contract should be used to define activities and method of compensation. The investigator should be replaced as soon as possible to avoid misappropriation of resources, perception of inappropriate actions, or inappropriate remuneration.
- ♦ The company should not be provided knowledge of or access to institutionallygenerated/federally funded research prior to the time they are made available to the scientific community at large.

Guiding principle 15: Investigators shall be aware of and adhere to requirements of federal funding related to disclosure of inventions. Investigators shall adhere to patent law and institutional requirements. An obligation of the Bayh-Dole Act is that federal grantees must disclose inventions resulting from federally-funded research to their institutions. Investigators may lack awareness of this requirement. Proper disclosure policies and procedures should be followed, and investigators should not condone moving technologies and discoveries "out the back door" to companies with which they have a relationship.

Guiding principle 16: Investigators shall not seek to influence their institution's technology transfer decisions for personal gain. It is recognized that investigators often have a financial interest in companies and that the resulting potential for conflicts of interest requires oversight and resolution. In some cases, the expectations of the investigator may not be in line with the interests of the institution. Institutions own intellectual property resulting from an investigator's federally-funded research. Whether or not the individual is involved in licensing arrangements is up to the institution. Government guidelines might be helpful, but investigators should always go to their institution first.

- Investigators should understand their institution's royalty distribution policies and standards for licensing. Investigators expect that the institution will provide ways for inventors to participate in, and benefit from, the commercialization of their discoveries. Institutions should consider practices that will continue to provide incentives to investigators.
- Situations may occur when royalty income causes difficulties between investigators (e.g., an investigator that provided assistance may find fault in not being listed as an inventor of the patent and thus entitled to royalty shares). Patent law requires including collaborating inventors (including trainees), and there are defined criteria for who is an inventor and who is not. These criteria are different from who might be included as an author on a paper, and investigators should be cognizant of this distinction. Investigators and trainees have an obligation to understand their institution's policies and should seek institutional guidance if they have questions.
- Investigators may face challenges regarding restrictions on future rights of use from industry sponsors. Institutions should retain the rights to use the patented invention for research purposes, and have the ability to transfer that research right to other not-for-profit research institutions.

### HOW DO INVESTIGATORS WITH INDUSTRY RELATIONSHIPS PROTECT AGAINST NEGATIVE IMPACTS ON TRAINING AND EDUCATION?

For the purposes of this report, a "trainee" includes students, postdoctoral fellows, residents, and investigators or faculty members that are not PIs. Investigators should also consider potential impacts on subordinate employees. Mentoring and educating trainees is an important (and sometimes primary) responsibility assumed by academic investigators. The relationship between a mentor and trainee is a close one that is based on trust. Often inherent

in this relationship is an unequal distribution of power and influence between the individuals in the relationship. As a result, the person being mentored may not feel he/she has the freedom to refuse the mentor's request. In addition, whenever the possibility exists that a mentor's advice or counsel might be influenced by personal financial interests, then there also exists the potential for significant negative impacts to the training or career development of the person being mentored. Potential financial conflicts of interest may occur in any relationship when there is a real or perceived imbalance in power or influence between a mentor, advisor, or supervisor and a student, trainee, or junior colleague, and the potential exists for significant financial benefit to the more powerful individual.<sup>36</sup>

Guiding principle 17: A mentor's outside commercial interests shall avoid impeding a trainee's timely progress toward his/her degree, restricting a trainee's right to publish his/her research in a timely manner, compromising a trainee's career progress, or restricting a trainee's freedom of inquiry.

- ♦ The institution, mentor, and trainee should discuss and agree upon a definition of "timely" prior to the start of trainee involvement.
- Any agreements that would place restrictions on trainee activities must be fully disclosed to the institution, department and trainee and the implications described prior to their involvement in the research.
- Sources of information and institutional contacts should be provided to trainees that will help them understand these issues, answer any questions, and make fullyinformed decisions.
- If the nature of the research with an outside sponsoring organization requires prepublication review beyond sixty days, investigators should seriously wonder whether trainees should be involved in the studies. Substantial delays in publication have adverse effects on a trainee's progress.

Guiding principle 18: Mentors and institutions should make trainees aware of their rights and responsibilities in industry relationships. Trainees may have a direct relationship with a company, such as a training or travel grant, or an indirect relationship through their mentor. It is important to understand whether such relationships involve restrictions or are unrestricted benefits from industry to foster education, which improves the future work force.

- Institutions should consider whether or not students should be involved in the disclosure process at institutions, as well as other opportunities for training on academia-industry relationships and conflict of interest.
- ♦ Trainees have rights under patent law to be designated as an inventor of a technology, if appropriate.

## HOW DO INVESTIGATORS WITH INDUSTRY RELATIONSHIPS PROTECT AGAINST RISKS TO HUMAN RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS?

Conflict of interest is not exclusively a clinical research challenge. However, the potential for risks to human research participants is a higher level of risk than with basic research. Investigators and institutions have a responsibility to maximize the benefits to research participants, while ensuring their protection against any negative consequences of competing interests. More stringent institutional review is appropriate, and many medical schools conducting research apply such stringency. The Association of American Medical Colleges issued recommended guidelines for the oversight of individual financial interests in research involving human participants in 2001. One of the core principles is that *institutions* should regard all significant financial interests in human subjects research as potentially problematic and, therefore, requiring close scrutiny. Central to the recommendations is a rebuttable presumption that in the presence of significant financial interests (defined as more than \$10,000 or 5% equity ownership in any one relevant company), the research should not be conducted by the affected individual or in that institution, absent compelling circumstances. In a 2004 survey of member medical schools, sixty-one percent had adopted the rebuttable presumption or similar standard, <sup>23</sup> indicating a positive reaction to this recommendation.

There are many types of research involving human participants from basic research to clinical trials. Even within the realm of clinical trials, different benefits, risks, and protections occur. For example, medical device and surgery research can have different profiles of risks and rewards than pharmaceutical research. Phase III trials may pose greater potential for financial gain; however, there are more protections against bias due to the fact that they are larger, conducted at multiple centers, and are double or triple blinded. Phase I trials may be more susceptible to the influence of single investigators, but may be impossible without a committed investigator who also comes with financial interests (for example, the inventor of the technology being tested). Even when it is possible to exclude an investigator with financial interests, it may not be in the best interest of the public if that conflicted investigator has the most knowledge and expertise to carry out the study. For example, the researcher may be a surgeon who has developed a unique surgical technique. All of these issues should be considered.

## Guiding principle 19: *Investigators* shall regard all significant financial interests in research involving human subjects as potentially problematic and thus as requiring close scrutiny.

♦ Case-by-case review and oversight, guided by rigorous standards should be used. The balance of benefits and risks to patients and the research should be considered by both institution and investigator in every case. Phases of clinical trials have different benefits and risks, and each case should be judged on those circumstances. In addition, investigators should understand that some institutional review boards may require that information regarding relevant financial relationships be disclosed to patients and human research participants so that they may make fully-informed decisions about their participation.<sup>37</sup>

♦ Investigators with significant financial interests should not play a role in the research, absent compelling circumstances.<sup>2</sup> If they are involved, they should not solely determine experimental design or data analyses. These aspects of the study should be decided upon by peer-review mechanisms using investigators without financial interests in the study outcome.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Academia-industry relationships ultimately have the ability to bring multiple resources to scientific advancement and the battle against disease. It is only through such relationships that advancements in the life sciences can most rapidly achieve the maximum benefit to society. Clinical and basic science investigators benefit from industry relationships through increased resources to support on-going projects, interactions with colleagues that facilitate the bidirectional flow of knowledge and materials, and participation in the application of research.

Investigators are individually responsible for maintaining accountability in their choices to enter into relationships with industry, complying with institutional, government and journal policies, and taking responsibility to guard against bias in research. The scientific process requires scientists to work within a culture of the highest standards for research and professional conduct, and to identify and manage conflicts of interest as an inherent responsibility of their job. They must continue to make efforts to provide access to research results and disseminate findings in a timely manner. Finally, they must protect against risks to human research participants and trainees.

In light of the increased frequency of academia-industry relationships, the scientific community must continue to examine and manage these relationships to maximize the benefits and guard against the risks. Both industry and academic institutions should work together to steer investigators away from key challenges and roadblocks, including challenges arising from financial relationships. The broader scientific community (including academic institutions, journals, and scientific societies that represent investigators) has a shared responsibility to provide clear and rigorous standards, fair and efficient review and oversight of relationships, and adequate guidance to investigators before and throughout relationships with industry.

Investigators who satisfy all institutional requirements for disclosure and oversight, are aware of the challenges, and have made smart decisions based on guiding principles to address these challenges will minimize negative consequences of academia-industry relationships. In some cases, prohibitions of specific activities may be necessary. Also, individuals may decide not to enter into a relationship based on their own analyses of benefits and risks. This type of individual assessment is encouraged.

The purposes of the guiding principles presented in this report are to help academic investigators become aware of potential challenges in academia-industry relationships, encourage awareness of requirements and interaction with their institution in addressing these challenges, and promote voluntary measures for operating with transparency and accountability. While the document was generally designed to address financial conflict-of-interest issues faced by individual academic scientists, some of the general principles apply to scientists broadly and address challenges that are not exclusively financial in nature. The vast majority of biomedical researchers are guided by the highest ethical and professional standards. Scientists must continue to uphold practices that advance the public good,

including identifying and addressing conflicts of interest. There are legitimate benefits to *all types* of academia-industry relationships. With careful disclosure and oversight, the risks can be minimized or eliminated and the benefits to the scientific community and public maximized.

#### REFERENCES

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Report on Individual and Institutional Financial Conflict of Interest. 2001. Association of American Universities, Task Force on Research Accountability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Protecting Subjects, Preserving Trust, Promoting Progress— Policy and Guidelines for the Oversight of Individual Financial Interests in Human Subjects Research. 2001. Association of American Medical Colleges Task Force on Financial Conflicts of Interest in Clinical Research.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> FASEB letter to the Department of Health and Human Services in response to the July 3, 2000 Federal Register notice "Human Subject Protection and Financial Conflict of Interest: Conference," http://opa.faseb.org/pdf/9x29x00ltr.pdf, Accessed January 31, 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Integrity in scientific research: Creating an environment that promotes responsible conduct. 2002. Institute of Medicine and the National Research Council of the National Academies. The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Eric G. Campbell, presentation to FASEB Board of Directors, June 15, 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> AUTM Licensing Survey, FY 2004: A Survey Summary of Technology Licensing (and Related) Performance for U.S. and Canadian Academic and Nonprofit Institutions, and Technology Investment Firms. Editors Ashley J. Stevens, Francis Toneguzzo, and Dana Bostrom.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Science and Engineering Indicators- 2006. National Science Board. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Blumenthal D, Causino N, Campbell EG, and Louis KS. 1996. Participation of life-science faculty in research relationships with industry. *NEJM*, 335: 1734-1739.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Blumenthal D, Causino N, Campbell EG, and Louis KS. 1996. Relationships between academic institutions and industry in the life sciences—An industry survey. *NEJM*, 334: 368-373.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Campbell EG, Weissman JS, Feibelmann S, Moy B, Blumenthal D. Institutional academic industry relationships: Results of case studies. *Accountability in Research* 2004; 11(2): 103-118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Zucker LG and Darby MR. 1996. Star scientists and institutional transformation: Patterns of invention and innovation in the formation of the biotechnology industry. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 93:12709-12716.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  Berman EM. 1990. The economic impact of industry-funded university R&D. *Research Policy*, 19: 349-355.

- <sup>16</sup> Blumenthal D, Causino N, Campbell EG, Anderson MS, and Louis KS. 1997. Withholding of research results in academic life science: Evidence from a national survey of faculty. *JAMA*, 277(15): 1224-28.
- <sup>17</sup> Campbell EG, Clarridge BR, Gokhale M, Birenbaum L, Hilgartner S, Holtzman NA, and Blumenthal D. 2002. Data withholding in academic genetics: Evidence from a national survey. *JAMA*, 287(4):473-481.
- <sup>18</sup> Slaughter S, Campbell T, Holleman M, and Morgan E. 2002. The "traffic" in graduate students: Graduate students as tokens of exchange between academe and industry. *Science, Technology, & Human Values*, 27(2):282-312.
- <sup>19</sup> Gluck ME, Blumenthal D, and Stoto MA. 1987. University-industry relationships in the life sciences: Implications for students and post-doctoral fellows. *Research Policy*, 16:327-336.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Thompson DF. 1993. Understanding financial conflicts of interest. *NEJM*, 329:573-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Bekelman JE, Li Y, and Gross CP. 2003. Scope and Impact of Financial Conflicts of Interest in Biomedical Research. *JAMA*, 289: 454-465.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Kassirer JP and Angell M. 1993. Financial conflicts of interest in biomedical research. *NEJM*, 329(8): 570-571.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Eric G. Campbell, personal communication.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Research America poll data. 2004. http://www.researchamerica.org/polldata/2004/industry\_files/frame.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> On Being a Scientist: Responsible Conduct of Research. 1995. The National Academy of Sciences, Committee on Science, Engineering and Public Policy. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Ehringhaus S and Korn D. 2004. *U.S. medical school policies on individual financial conflicts of interest: Results of an AAMC survey*. Association of American Medical Colleges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Krimsky S and Rothenberg LS. 2001. Conflict of interest policies in science and medical journals: Editorial practices and author disclosures. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, 7:205-218.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Scheetz MD. 2003. *Promoting Integrity Through "Instructions to Authors: A Preliminary Analysis*. U.S. Office of Research Integrity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Drug Development Science: Obstacles and Opportunities for Collaboration Among Academia, Industry and Government. 2005. Editors David Korn and Donald R. Stanski.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Cho MK, Shohara R, Schissel A, and Rennie D. 2000. Policies on faculty conflicts of interest at U.S. universities. *JAMA*, 284(17): 2203-2208.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> McCrary S, Anderson CB, Jakovljevic J, Khan T, McCullough LB, Wray NP, and Brody BA. 2000. A national survey of policies on disclosure of conflicts of interest in biomedical research. *NEJM*, 343(22): 1621-1626.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Campbell EG, Koski G, and Blumenthal D. 2004. The Triple Helix: University, Government, and Industry Relationships in the Life Sciences. AEI-Brookings Joint Center for Regulatory Studies Working Paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Integrity in Reporting of Clinical Research Studies. 2005. Association of American Medical Colleges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Guidance for Industry, E6 Good Clinical Practice: Consolidated Guidance, 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals: Writing and Editing for Biomedical Publication. 2005. International Committee of Medical Journal Editors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Laine C and Mulrow CD. 2005. Exorcising ghosts and unwelcome guests. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 143(8): 611-612.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Brennen TA, Rothman DJ, Blank L, Blumenthal D, Chimonas SC, Cohen JJ, Goldman J, Kassier JP, Kimball H, Naughton J, and Smelser N. 2006. Health industry practices that create conflicts of interest: A policy proposal for academic medical centers. *JAMA*, 295(4): 429-433.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Topol EJ and Blumenthal D. 2005. Physicians and the investment industry. *JAMA*, 293(21): 2654-2657.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Recognizing and Managing Personal Financial Conflicts of Interest. 2002. Council on Governmental Relations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Financial Relationships and Interests in Research Involving Human Subjects: Guidance for Human Subject Protections. 2006. Final Guidance Document, Department of Health and Human Services.

#### **APPENDIX**

**Academia-industry relationships:** Arrangements in which academic scientists, administrators, and institutions carry out research or provide intellectual property to industry in return for considerations of various types such as research support, honoraria, consulting fees, royalties, and equity.

#### Are you considering, or do you currently have any of the above relationships? If so,

- 1. What are your institution's requirements for disclosure of industry relationships?
  - a) What criteria are used for defining a conflict of interest? What are the thresholds for disclosure?
  - b) Must you disclose to the department Chair, Dean or other supervisor; institutional committee or university official; legal counsel?
  - c) When must you disclose (annually, ad hoc basis, upon application for funding, prior to signing an agreement)?
  - d) Must you disclose this in publications, presentations or to research participants?
  - e) What types of relationships must you disclose (funding, consulting arrangements, company boards, equity, etc.)?
  - f) What are the penalties for non-disclosure?
- 2. What are your institution's policies on investigators having financial interests (equity, royalties, consulting fees, membership on a board of directors, etc.) in a company sponsoring your research?
- 3. What are your institution's policies on investigators having financial interests in a company sponsoring clinical research involving human participants?
- 4. What are your institution's policies on the use of institutional resources and personnel in outside activities (e.g. consulting)?
- 5. What are your institution's policies involving trainees in industry-funded research?

## Are you considering entering into any of the above relationships with a company? If so, please consider the following *prior* to the start of the relationship:

- 1. What are the conditions of publication?
- 2. What are the conditions of ownership and access of research data and materials? What are these conditions in multi-institution research projects? Do any of these conditions conflict with any institution's policies?
- 3. How are experimental designs negotiated?
- 4. What types of compensation are paid, and for what work?
- 5. What are patient inclusion criteria for enrollment?